
      PRESCOTT CITY COUNCIL 
      REGULAR VOTING MEETING 
      TUESDAY, MARCH 27, 2012 
      PRESCOTT, ARIZONA 
 
MINUTES OF THE REGULAR VOTING MEETING OF THE PRESCOTT CITY 
COUNCIL held on MARCH 27, 2012, in the COUNCIL CHAMBERS located at CITY 
HALL, 201 SOUTH CORTEZ STREET, Prescott, Arizona. 
 
 
  CALL TO ORDER  
 
 Mayor Kuykendall called the meeting to order at 3:00 p.m. 
  
  INVOCATION   Rev. Julia McKenna Johnson, Pastor 
 Each One Reach One Ministries 
 
 No invocation given as Pastor McKenna Johnson was not present. 
 
 PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE Mayor Kuykendall 
 
 Mayor Kuykendall led the Council and audience in the Pledge of Allegiance.  
  
  ROLL CALL:  
 
  Present:      
  

Absent: 

 Mayor Kuykendall     None 
Councilman Arnold    
Councilman Blair    
Councilman Carlow    
Councilman Hanna 
Councilman Kuknyo 
Councilman Lamerson  

 
 SUMMARY OF CURRENT OR RECENT EVENTS 
   
I. CONSENT AGENDA 
 

CONSENT ITEM A LISTED BELOW MAY BE ENACTED BY ONE MOTION. 
ANY ITEM MAY BE REMOVED AND DISCUSSED IF A COUNCILMEMBER SO 
REQUESTS. 

  
A. Approval of the minutes of the Prescott City Council Workshop of 

March 6, 2012, and the Regular Voting Meeting of March 13, 2012. 
 



Prescott City Council  
Regular Voting Meeting – March 27, 2012                                                   Page 2 
 

Councilman Arnold noted that in the minutes for the Workshop of 
March 6, 2012, Item A, under proclamations, the name Kuknyo should be 
changed out for Arnold. 

 
COUNCILMAN ARNOLD MOVED TO APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA 
ITEM 1-A WITH THE REFLECTED CHANGE; SECONDED BY 
COUNCILMAN LAMERSON; PASSED UNANIMOUSLY.  

 
II. REGULAR AGENDA 
 

A. Public Hearing and consideration of a liquor license application submitted 
by William Roy Bast, applicant for Bill & Kays Tastebuds Pizza LLC, for a 
Series 12, Restaurant, license for Tastebuds Pizza located at 334 South 
Montezuma. 
 
Ms. Burke reviewed the application, noting that the property had been 
posted, no public comment had been received and the applicant was 
present should the Council have any questions of them. 
 
COUNCILMAN HANNA MOVED TO CLOSE THE PUBLIC HEARING; 
SECONDED BY COUNCILMAN LAMERSON; PASSED UNANI-
MOUSLY. 
 
COUNCILMAN HANNA MOVED TO APPROVE THE LIQUOR LICENSE 
APPLICATION SUBMITTED BY WILLIAM ROY BAST, APPLICANT 
FOR BILL & KAYS TASTEBUDS PIZZA LLC, FOR A SERIES 12, 
RESTAURANT, LICENSE FOR TASTEBUDS PIZZA LOCATED AT 
334 SOUTH MONTEZUMA; SECONDED BY COUNCILMAN BLAIR; 
PASSED UNANIMOUSLY.  
 

B. Public Hearing for Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Annual 
Action Plan FY2012. 

 
Ms. Dudek acknowledged the CDBG Advisory Committee, Alan Carlow, 
Mary Ann Suttles, Jerome Jones and Pamela Wickstrom.  

 
She noted that the City of Prescott was an entitlement community; 
Housing and Urban Development (HUD) passed money directly to the City 
of Prescott, giving back their Federal dollars. She said that they had 
already established a consolidated plan that would run for five years. She 
noted they had an annual plan as an adjunct to the consolidated plan. 

 
They had 13 non-profit providers at their first public meeting on 
February 8, 2012, to request funds for that year. She said that more than 
750 postcards were mailed to light to moderate income persons residing 
in the Dexter neighborhood.  



Prescott City Council  
Regular Voting Meeting – March 27, 2012                                                   Page 3 
 

 
The anticipated funding from HUD for the following year would be 
$222,897. She noted that, of that amount, 15 percent, or $33,434 may be 
allocated to public service requests, 20 percent went to administrative 
costs and the rest went to low to moderate income benefit activities. She 
said they were in the process of a 30 day public comment period, which 
began on March 8, and would end April 6. She noted that changes to the 
plan were still possible until it was approved by Council on May 8. 

 
She said there were three national objectives to be eligible for funding and 
one of the three objectives must be met to receive funding. The first would 
be a benefit to low to moderated income persons. The second objective 
was to prevent or eliminate slums or blight and the third objective was to 
solve an urgent need or health hazard, when no other funds or sources 
were available.  

 
She gave examples of approved HUD activities which were affordable, 
safe housing for low to moderate income persons and the workforce; and 
street, neighborhood and ADA improvements, which would go to the 
Dexter neighborhood. She said the third would go to public facilities, like 
Veterans housing, women and children’s shelters and mental health 
facilities.  

 
She noted that they had 13 requests for $365,000. She said the Citizens 
Advisory Committee met on February 15 and February 29 to prioritize and 
rank the received requests. She noted that the committee recommended 
that funding went to Meals on Wheels to fund meals for the elderly and 
shut-ins. Other activities to be funded were Catholic Charities for 
weatherization of their property to house women and children, Coalition 
for Compassion and Justice for major repairs for the elderly. The 
committee wanted to repair sidewalks and street lighting in the Dexter 
Neighborhood. She noted that they would also help the West Yavapai 
Guidance Clinic to convert a house at 639 Dameron. 

   
  Councilman Blair asked about the difference in the administrative costs 

from one page to another. Ms. Dudek said that there may be a difference 
between the committee and what was actually available. She said she 
would look into it.  

 
Daniel Mattson asked how she defined workforce housing. Ms. Dudek 
said the CDBG guidelines entailed 80 percent of the average median 
income would be considered low to moderate. She noted that they did not 
go into specific workforce housing. Mr. Mattson said that he dealt with 
people who were at 20 percent of the median income and he suggested 
that they cut the number down. Ms. Dudek said that she would discuss 
that with the committee.  



Prescott City Council  
Regular Voting Meeting – March 27, 2012                                                   Page 4 
 

   
She noted that the next public hearing was scheduled for May 8. She said 
that they were in the process of amending the 2011 Action Plan. She said 
they had to reallocate $45,000. She said the Adult Care Services at 
Sunset Avenue did not receive clearance from HUD to put in a new roof.  
She wanted to reallocate that money to Project Aware to demolish and 
grade the property on Montezuma. She said they were shovel-ready to put 
in six units of affordable housing for formerly homeless women and 
children. She noted that Council action was anticipated on April 24.  

 
Councilman Lamerson complimented her on her presentation. He said the 
committee did a good job of putting the money where it belonged 

 
COUNCILMAN CARLOW MOVED TO CLOSE THE PUBLIC HEARING; 
SECONDED BY COUNCILMAN ARNOLD; PASSED UNANIMOUSLY.  
 

C. Approval of a contract with Double J’s Installation, Inc., for carpet 
replacement at West Yavapai Guidance Clinic at 505 S. Cortez Street in 
an amount not to exceed $18,624.83 (CDBG funding). 

 
Ms. Dudek noted that Double J’s came back with impeccable 
recommendation from Northern Arizona Council of Governments 
(NACOG) in Flagstaff and the GORE Company. 

 
COUNCILMAN ARNOLD MOVED TO APPROVE A CONTRACT WITH 
DOUBLE J’S INSTALLATION, INC., FOR CARPET REPLACEMENT AT 
WEST YAVAPAI GUIDANCE CLINIC AT 505 S. CORTEZ STREET IN 
AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $18,624.83 (CDBG FUNDING); 
SECONDED BY COUNCILMAN LAMERSON; PASSED 
UNANIMOUSLY. 

 
D. Approval of a Contract for Services with Prescott Mountain Bike Alliance, 

an Arizona nonprofit corporation, for a Mountain Bike Pump Track within 
Granite Creek Park. 

 
Mr. Baynes reviewed the definition of a pump track. He noted that the 
Prescott Mountain Bike Alliance (PMBA) approached the City in late 
August of 2011 with a proposal to construct a pump track at Granite Creek 
Park. He said the key components to the agreement were that PMBA 
would construct the facility at their own expense, with the oversight of the 
Parks and Recreation Department. PIMBA would hire a professional track 
designer and they would be responsible for the maintenance of the facility. 
The facility would allow the City to retire approximately 10,000 square feet 
of turf which would save about $600 annually on watering. It introduced a 
positive reuse to the park in an underutilized area. He noted there was 
also good access from the Greenways Trail. 



Prescott City Council  
Regular Voting Meeting – March 27, 2012                                                   Page 5 
 

 
He said Risk had looked at the project and the signage would be the 
same as what they had at the Skate Park. 

 
Councilman Blair said that he supported the bike park. He said that he 
was concerned with ingress and egress off the bike lane off of Montezuma 
Street. He asked if it could be cleaned up and a bike ramp installed. He 
thought it was ironic that there would a facility available for more users but 
they did not address getting into the park a little easier. Mr. Baynes said 
they would take care of that.  

  
Councilman Kuknyo thanked the Mountain Bike Alliance for pursuing the 
track and staying with it. Councilman Lamerson asked who would pay for 
the track illumination when they went ahead with that project.  

 
Mr. Baynes said that it would be addressed at the time it came forward. 
He said that it would probably be more appropriate to have safety lighting 
rather than light it for night use, as they had done with the skate park. 

 
Councilman Lamerson asked why they did not state that it would not be lit 
at night. Mr. Baynes said that if other minds prevailed in the future they 
could bring it to the Council’s attention. Mr. Lamerson asked if they could 
include it in the deal that if it was illuminated in the future, it would not 
come with a cost to the taxpayers, but a cost to the people who used it. 

 
Councilman Arnold said that if they were to go to the plan of illuminating 
the track, it would probably involve lighting more of the park than just the 
track. He asked what the time for construction was. Mr. Baynes said they 
were ready to go and they would like to have it finished by the end of 
April. He noted that Todd Sadow of Epic Rides was considering ending 
his kid’s race in the area of the pump track, to introduce the track. 

 
COUNCILMAN BLAIR MOVED TO APPROVE A CONTRACT FOR 
SERVICES WITH PRESCOTT MOUNTAIN BIKE ALLIANCE, AN 
ARIZONA NONPROFIT CORPORATION, FOR A MOUNTAIN BIKE 
PUMP TRACK WITHIN GRANITE CREEK PARK; SECONDED BY 
COUNCILMAN KUKNYO, PASSED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 
E. Approval of a license agreement with Charles M. Horsley and Margaret C. 

Horsley, JT, for a recreation trail northwest of Watson Lake. 
 

Mr. Baynes gave some background on the item.  
 

Councilman Hanna asked if the City had done their due diligence in taking 
the liability off of the City. Mr. Kidd said yes and they had covered 
recreational immunity as thoroughly as they could. He said they had 



Prescott City Council  
Regular Voting Meeting – March 27, 2012                                                   Page 6 
 

verified insurance and taken the additional step of going through a risk 
study. He said that compared to where they were, they had made a good 
amount of progress.  

   
He said they did some rewriting of the contract to broaden the types of 
uses. He said they had a meeting with the Horsleys and Councilman Blair 
said they should include recreational activities, since it was near the lake 
front. He said they covered fishing and boating. 

 
Mr. Kidd said he had no problems with the changes to the contract.  

 
Councilman Hanna said his main concern was with the liability the City 
would have. Mr. Kidd said that they had covered it consistently with all the 
other park and recreational uses the City had.  

     
Councilman Arnold said that his concerns regarding the liability had been 
addressed. He asked Mr. Baynes who would build it and what the time 
frame was and what the plan for ongoing maintenance and related costs 
were. Mr. Baynes said that Chris Hoskings worked with the Over the Hill 
Gang every Monday. He said they were almost finished with the 
Centennial Trail and would begin after that. He said there would be 
minimal maintenance, estimated at $300 per year.  

 
Councilman Carlow asked if the change in the State’s trail rating system 
would affect Prescott. Mr. Baynes said that he had not heard about that. 
He said that if there was a standardized rating for trails, they would be on 
board.  

 
Councilman Kuknyo thanked the Horsleys for working with the City to 
share their property. Councilman Lamerson also thanked the Horsleys 
and said that he felt better about the new agreement. Councilman Blair 
thanked everyone for their effort and said it might make it easier to work 
on the Keihkefer land.  

    
COUNCILMAN ARNOLD MOVED TO APPROVE A LICENSE 
AGREEMENT WITH CHARLES M. HORSLEY AND MARGARET C. 
HORSLEY, JT, FOR A RECREATION TRAIL NORTHWEST OF 
WATSON LAKE; SECONDED BY COUNCILMAN KUKNYO; PASSED 
UNANIMOUSLY.  
 

F. Approval to purchase emergency vehicle equipment builds for seven (7) 
each previously purchased 2012 Chevrolet Tahoe police vehicles from 
First In, Inc., for a total amount of $164,416.37. 

 
Chief Kabbel said the vehicles were due at the end of the month and said 
that they went with the Chevrolet Tahoe vehicles because the Ford Crown 



Prescott City Council  
Regular Voting Meeting – March 27, 2012                                                   Page 7 
 

Victoria Police Interceptor that they had been using for many years was 
no longer available. Their research showed the Chevy Tahoes were 
cheaper to purchase than the Crown Victorias, better on gas mileage, had 
a longer life expectance, better maintenance record and a better resale 
value. He noted that the funding was available in the Fiscal Year 2012 
budget. He said that they would use everything they could from the old 
Crown Victorias. 
 
Councilman Blair asked if they could strip the equipment off of the old 
cars and sell it on the Internet. Chief Kabbel said that they would end up 
auctioning off some of the equipment. Councilman Lamerson said that the 
public should know that the old vehicles would go out to auction and that 
money would go back into the General Fund. Councilman Arnold said that 
he would like to see a copy of the bid in the future.  

  
Chief Kabbel said he would try to do that, but until Council approved the 
vehicle they would purchase, they did not get a build out bid. 
Mr. McConnell said that they could indicate an estimate with the vehicle 
procurement.  

 
COUNCILMAN LAMERSON MOVED TO APPROVE THE PURCHASE 
OF EMERGENCY VEHICLE EQUIPMENT BUILDS FOR SEVEN (7) EA. 
PREVIOUSLY PURCHASED 2012 CHEVROLET TAHOE POLICE 
VEHICLES FROM FIRST IN, INC., FOR A TOTAL AMOUNT OF 
$164,416.37; SECONDED BY COUNCILMAN ARNOLD; PASSED 
UNANIMOUSLY.  
 

G. Approval of bid and contract for perimeter fencing at the Police 
Department shooting range to Prescott Fence Company in the amount of 
$21,347.65. 

 
Chief Kabbel noted that on January 24, 2012, Council adopted a 
resolution authorizing the acceptance of grant funding in the amount of 
$28,500.00 provided by the Arizona Peace Officers Standards and 
Training Board (AZPOST) for the purpose of installing chain link fence 
around the perimeter of the Prescott Police Department shooting range. 
He said there would be no financial costs to the City. The balance of the 
awarded amount would be returned to AZPOST. 

 
COUNCILMAN HANNA MOVED TO APPROVE THE BID AND 
CONTRACT FOR PERIMETER FENCING AT THE POLICE 
DEPARTMENT SHOOTING RANGE TO PRESCOTT FENCE COMPANY 
IN THE AMOUNT OF $21,347.65; SECONDED BY COUNCILMAN 
CARLOW; PASSED UNANIMOUSLY.   
 



Prescott City Council  
Regular Voting Meeting – March 27, 2012                                                   Page 8 
 

H. Approval to submit 2012 Hazardous Fuels Grant application to the 
Arizona Division of Forestry. 

 
Chief Martinez said their Wildland Division had been obtaining grants 
throughout the year. Since 2001, they had been one of the top three 
recipients of those grants. He noted that the current risk assessments 
concluded that Prescott had 25,000 residents living in a high or extreme 
wildland urban interface area with 18,000 structures at risk and $3.2 billion 
of associated property valuation. He said they wanted to submit for a 
$200,000 grant, which was a 90/10 split and would cost the City $20,000. 
He said they would work on ten parcels within the City, mostly bordering 
the United States Forest Service boundary. He said they were critical 
areas. He said they identified the highest risk areas and tried to take those 
as they got the grant.  

 
Councilman Blair said that $20,000.00 was a drop in the bucket when they 
were protecting $3.2 billion worth of structures. He said that the grand 
mission for open space came with a maintenance cost, which he had 
always complained about. He said that at some point he hoped they 
would have an avenue that would fund it. He said that it might be 
interesting to find out how Prescott Area Wildland Urban Interface 
Commission (PAUWIC) evolved. 

 
Chief Martinez said that it started with group of people living in 
Timberidge. He said they got with Firewise Communities which was a 
national organization that went around to help subdivisions create their 
urban wild land defensible space. He said it was around the time they 
developed their Wildland Division and developed crews. Councilman Blair 
said Don Levenson and the guys involved in that were computer jockies 
and put together The First Alert web sites. Chief Martinez said Al Bates 
was also critical in the start of that program.  

 
Councilman Arnold asked if the intent of the program was to resell any 
chippings off of the properties to help offset the General Fund expense. 
Chief Martinez said that he would ask Chief Willis and get back to him.  

 
Elisabeth Ruffner, Prescott, said in the 80’s the General Plan revision had 
11 committees working on it. She said there were three of them, with Tom 
Guice on contract, and Dava Hoffman. She said they had never spoken to 
a department head who had five-year plans. He noted that Ron Prince 
was the Fire Chief and had been to fire training in Missoula, Montana, 
where the entire town had burned down. She said the General Plan 
Committee and the Fire Chief got together a large number of people and 
out of that public gathering came the Prescott Area Wildland Urban 
Interface Commission, which she named. She said that after that, they 
consulted the department heads at the beginning of General Plan process 



Prescott City Council  
Regular Voting Meeting – March 27, 2012                                                   Page 9 
 
 

COUNCILMAN ARNOLD MOVED TO APPROVE THE SUBMITTAL OF 
AN APPLICATION FOR AN ARIZONA HAZARDOUS FUELS GRANT IN 
THE AMOUNT OF $200,000.00 FROM THE ARIZONA DIVISION OF 
FORESTRY; SECONDED BY COUNCILMAN HANNA; PASSED 
UNANIMOUSLY.  
  

I. Recognition of outgoing Councilmember John Hanna. 
 

This item was moved to the end of the meeting.  
 

J.* Consent to sale of E2 Hangar Lease, as amended (City Contract 
#1988-142, 1988-142A and 1988-142B) from Nostalgaire to MH 
Property, LLC (John Stonecipher). 

 
Mr. Vardiman said the request came before Council at the request of a 
current leasee of the E2 hanger, Mr. and Mrs. Scott Gifford, owners of 
Nostalgaire, Inc. He said the lessee had the right to sell the business 
assets, including the lease.  

  
Councilman Blair asked if he was talking about all rental properties at the 
airport or just that one. Mr. Vardiman said just that one. Councilman Blair 
asked if there would be anything written in the lease to get out of the 
agreements, due to the rentals being below market value.  

 
Mr. Kidd said that all the standard form agreements had escalator clauses 
and were at current market value. He said that part of the issue was how 
long they set them. He noted that it was a longer term lease and he 
thought Council would want to direct policy to go to a shorter term.  
Councilman Blair asked if they were protected with a 25 year lease. 
Mr. Kidd said that it was a policy call. 

 
Mr. Vardiman said the master lease for the property expired in 2014. He 
said it did have an option to renew for another 25 years. The lease had a 
triennial escalation of the rent. He said that every three years there was a 
cumulative Consumer Price Index (CPI), not less than two percent and not 
more than seven percent.  He said the property was at fair market value.  

 
Mr. McConnell said there was an agreement between the City and the 
present owner, which was a lease agreement which expired in 2014. He 
noted that the other party had the option to extend it. He said they were 
going to sell it and there would still be a relationship with the City that set 
the lease rate. He said when the new party obtained use of the property 
they could then have subleases of that property to other tenants. Those 
would be private arrangements. 

 



Prescott City Council  
Regular Voting Meeting – March 27, 2012                                                   Page 10 
 

COUNCILMAN BLAIR MOVED TO CONSENT TO THE SALE OF THE 
E-2 HANGAR LEASE (CITY CONTRACT #1988-142, 1988-142A AND 
1988-142B) AS AMENDED FROM NOSTALGAIRE, INC., TO MH 
PROPERTIES, LLC, AND AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR AND STAFF TO 
EFFECTUATE THE SAME; SECONDED BY COUNCILMAN 
LAMERSON; PASSED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 
COUNCILMAN LAMERSON MOVED TO AUTHORIZE THE AIRPORT 
MANAGER TO APPROVE RENTALS, SUBJECT TO AND IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LEASE, UTILIZING 
EXHIBIT C ATTACHED TO THE COUNCIL MEMO DATED MARCH 27, 
2012; SECONDED BY COUNCILMAN CARLOW; PASSED 
UNANIMOUSLY. 
  

K.* Disposition of bids and associated construction phase engineering 
services for the Runway 21L-3R Runway Safety Area Improvement 
Project at Prescott Municipal Airport. 

 
Councilman Arnold declared a conflict of interest and left the Chambers. 

 
Mr. Vardiman said the details of the bids were provided in the agenda 
memo. He noted that there were three alternatives provided for 
discussion. 

 
Councilman Hanna asked if they were entering into things that they did 
not know what they were getting in to. He asked if it should be dictated by 
the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA).  

 
Mr. McConnell said the City was mandated to upgrade the runways. 
Toward the end of this program Prescott’s runway came up for 
improvements. He said that behind all of it was a federal mandate to 
provide an additional runway safety area. He noted that the federal 
government was stepping up with grants to do that. He said they not only 
stepped up with money, but they also stepped with extensive federal 
requirements that the City was not used to placing in their contracts and 
administering. He said they did a lot of locally funded street projects which 
did not have the types of requirements. He said that it was arguable that 
when they thought about it, the money was being provided; the federal 
conditions were being applied to the City of Prescott as a grant recipient, 
but at the end of the day the party that was least knowledgeable and 
qualified to implement the requirements was the City of Prescott.  He said 
that it was a reimbursable grant.   

 
He said the City would award the contract and then submit requests for 
reimbursements to the federal government. If there was some deficiency 
on the part of the City in administering the contract and meeting those 



Prescott City Council  
Regular Voting Meeting – March 27, 2012                                                   Page 11 
 

requirements, it was the City of Prescott which was at financial risk. He 
noted that in general terms, the whole system looked to be backwards. If 
the federal government had all of the requirements, they should be 
implemented by the party that created those requirements. He said that 
was not to say that the City was incapable of doing the project. He said 
that for that purpose, the City engaged Dibble Engineering. 

 
He noted that the federal requirements were more extensive than the City 
of Prescott requirements and the City had to demonstrate that they met all 
of the requirements to receive reimbursement.  

 
Mr. McConnell noted that it required some assistance, which was why 
Dibble Engineering was engaged to be the middle man. Councilman 
Hanna asked if they had provided assurance that the requirements would 
be met. Mr. McConnell said that when the construction contract was 
awarded, if awarded by the City of Prescott, they would have the contract 
with Dibble Engineering and as a matter of contract, expect that they 
would perform that expertise.  

 
Councilman Hanna asked if Dibble was liable if something was not quite 
right. Mr. McConnell said that both parties to any contract had 
responsibilities. He noted that it was the City’s responsibility to pay them 
when they accomplished their responsibility.  

 
Mr. Kidd said that the contract provided that they made recommendation 
to the City in regards to the bidding. Councilman Hanna asked if they 
were to put it back out for bid would the Federal Aviation Administration 
(FAA) be willing to accept the burden. Mr. Kidd noted that the FAA would 
not go out and do the bidding situation for the City. He said that Arizona 
Department of Transportation (ADOT) and the FAA would work with the 
City to work on modifications to the bid specifications.  

 
Mr. McConnell said it appeared that the system which pertained to the 
requirement for accomplishing runway safety improvements, for funding, 
authorization and accepting of those improvements was oriented toward 
the airport owner, the City of Prescott, taking on the responsibility using 
Federal funding. He noted that the City could make a statement, about 
how it seemed like it was backward, but they all suspected, at staff level, 
that it would come full circle and the FAA would say they had to fix the 
runway. He said the only question was, whether the bids they had now 
were in order to make an award OR if they needed to be rejected. He was 
encouraged by the communication that they received that day that at least 
the federal and state government would review the contract and approve 
that contract. He said that might provide some level of comfort. 

 



Prescott City Council  
Regular Voting Meeting – March 27, 2012                                                   Page 12 
 

Councilman Blair said that he had been uncomfortable with the past 
couple of projects at the airport. He said that there did not seem to be 
consistency based on the type of money that was available. He said if the 
prime contractor, which was A. Miner, qualified based on federal 
requirements, and federal and state governments were okay with what he 
had provided, then it should proved the City with some level of comfort. 
He said that he did not want to drag it on any further.   

 
Councilman Lamerson said he had concerns with the City hanging in the 
wind on an issue that they were mandated to do. He said the federal 
government was paying for it at their airport. He was pleased with 
communication from FAA and ADOT regarding their willingness to make 
sure it was forwarded through process by inclusions of certain things. He 
said that Mr. McConnell provided them with an option that they did not 
have previously and he was comfortable with it. 

   
Councilman Kuknyo said that he wished they had more time to talk about 
it. Councilman Carlow said that he concurred with Councilman Blair. 
Councilman Hanna said that he had a problem with the way the 
government mandated things.  

 
Mr. Vardiman said during the design process they went through four 
rounds of review at 30, 60, 90 and 100 percent completion. He said that 
ADOT was included at the 30 percent and the 100 percent procedures, 
and FAA was included at all levels. He said they saw the contract 
documents and bid specs prior to the notice of invitation of bid going out. 
He noted that they had to approve the City’s contract with whoever a 
bidder was. They also had to approve everything prior to the City issuing a 
notice to proceed. He said they also indicated that should the City desire 
to rebid, they would work with the City to create and resolve any issues 
within the bid document. After the City made a recommendation ADOT 
and FAA would review and approve everything prior to issuing the notice 
to proceed. 

  
Councilman Kuknyo asked if they would be clearer after that, or would 
they be in the same spot. Mr. McConnell said that they had reviewed the 
specs a couple of times. There had been one item identified that they 
missed, which was the confusion regarding the Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprise (DBE) clause. He said the contract documents were extensive.  

 
He said if it was rejected and specs were gone through and they assisted 
the City with that, it would achieve more knowledge on the City’s part, but 
not necessarily that there would be many changes in the construction 
documents, which they had already reviewed. 

 



Prescott City Council  
Regular Voting Meeting – March 27, 2012                                                   Page 13 
 

Mayor Kuykendall said the bid documents talked about DBE percentages 
and a percentage of work to be done by the prime contractor. Then there 
was some adjustment that could be made after the work commenced to 
comply with the requirements. Mr. Kidd said there were some 
inconsistencies in the contract language. 

 
Mayor Kuykendall asked why they had any requirements in the bid 
documents if they could adjust their numbers as they went along. He said 
if they awarded a bid understanding there would be some adjustments 
made during the process, he asked what the penalty would be if that did 
not happen.  

 
Mr. Kidd said the question was why they called the DBE requirements out 
if they did not come into play. He said that the overall DBE goal was the 
airports and not the contractor’s. He said the FAA said that everything was 
fine from their perspective because the DBE requirements did not really 
apply, so it was not a critical term. They said that by calling it out, it was 
confusing and gave mixed messages about what the City was trying to do 
in the contract documents.   

 
Councilman Blair asked why they would go through the effort of rebidding 
if the FAA said it was okay.  

 
Mr. McConnell said his understanding was that when a contractor 
submitted a bid and there were apparent variations within the bid from 
what the invitation requested, one of those was a listing of subcontractors, 
the estimated percentage of work that each would do, and how those 
added up and what was left for the prime contractor to accomplish. He 
said there was nothing wrong with the bid documents, with the prime 
having to do 50 percent. He said the question was how to deal with the 
variation when the bidder filled in his bid documents, it did not add up to 
50 percent. He asked if that was major and so important that it disqualified 
that bidder. He said he understood that it was not. He said it was an 
estimated percentage that could be corrected as long as both parties 
understood that the corrected amounts for the bid prices were what were 
going to govern, not what he put on his bid documents. He said that what 
was going to govern was that he would have to modify his subcontractor 
listing to demonstrate and then satisfy the requirement that he 
accomplished 50 percent of the work. 

 
He said it was not a legal discussion, but in the spectrum of bid 
irregularities, some were more important, some were fatal, this item was 
that it was not a fatal variation which would disqualify that bidder. 

 
Councilman Kuknyo asked if those questions would change the dollar 
amount on the bid.  Mr. McConnell said it would not modify the amount of 



Prescott City Council  
Regular Voting Meeting – March 27, 2012                                                   Page 14 
 

the bid, the breakdown of the bid or the unit prices. He said it was just an 
allocation of resources it took to accomplish the job, between the prime 
contractor and the subcontractors that he was proposing to use.  He noted 
that those subcontractors could change.  

 
Mayor Kuykendall asked if the new numbers and new subs would be in 
place before there was a notice to proceed. Mr. Kidd said it would have to 
be in place at the time of signing the contract.  

 
Mayor Kuykendall asked what the penalties would be if there was not 
compliance. Mr. Kidd said they would be in breach of contract.  

 
Jeff Adams noted that several years ago there was a MD11 that did a low 
level fly over of the airport. He said it was his friend who was returning 
from the Middle East. He said his friend did it to show his four year old son 
how he flew a plane. He noted that a few weeks later his friend told him 
that it cost him $30,000 because he had approval from the FAA and local 
airspace, but he did not get approval from World Airways, his boss, to use 
the extra fuel that it took for him to divert his flight path to Prescott instead 
of going directly to Los Angeles. He said that it was his expectation that 
when Dibble Engineering was hired, they communicated with FAA and 
ADOT multiple times to ensure that the contract specifications would meet 
with federal and ADOT requirements  

 
He noted that a number of Council members had identified and seized 
upon the reason they were having the discussion as opposed to looking at 
the progress that A. Miner had already made, was not a result of his 
client’s submittal not meeting the technical requirements of the project, but 
because of things that had nothing to do with the construction and related 
to some policy requirements that existed within the FAA and ADOT. He 
said he was talking about 50 percent of the work being performed and 50 
percent of the contributions being contributed to the project directly by 
A. Miner Contracting, Inc., and then 50 percent of those contributions 
being obtained though the use of subcontractors. He said the other one 
being the DBE requirement (actually a goal) at 4.22 percent. He said it 
was not a requirement, but a goal.   

 
He said the 4.22 percent DBE goal was just that. He said it was an idea 
that would give disadvantaged businesses an opportunity to participate in 
public contracts. He noted that because that project involved the use of 
federal dollars and because the DBE goal was something they used at a 
federal level for awarding public contracts, which would be at work there. 
He said that it did not have anything to do with the amount of steel going 
into the runway, or the density of the concrete going into the runway. He 
said that it had to do with a political goal because they were using federal 



Prescott City Council  
Regular Voting Meeting – March 27, 2012                                                   Page 15 
 

funds. He said that his client indicated a willingness to do everything that 
he could to meet that goal. He said his bid proposal demonstrated that.  
 
He said it was the same thing with the 50 percent prime contractor versus 
subcontractor. He said that his client had demonstrated that ability to meet 
that requirement. He noted that his client would have to do some of that 
work and provide materials himself.  He noted that the City had someone 
(Dibble Engineering) overseeing the project. He noted that there would be 
oversight during the course of construction to make sure the project was 
proceeding in compliance. 

        
He noted that they heard from Mr. McConnell, who indicated that he had 
subsequent information. As a result of that communication, it sounded like 
the FAA and ADOT had indicated that the low bidder for the project, 
A. Miner, would meet with applicable federal requirements. 

 
He noted that in November after the bids were opened and considered, 
his client received a communication asking him to “bring down six signed 
copies of the contract and submit them” also, “get your bond”. He said that 
his client did that. He noted that he spent $71,000 to get the bond that the 
City would require. His client was being asked to sign a contract and get 
the bond; he had been led to believe that he was the lowest bidder. He 
had a reasonable right to believe he was going to be awarded that 
contract. He followed the rules by signing the contract, delivering it and 
getting the bond. He said he also staged the project. He got the workforce 
and the materials ready to go. He noted his client committed to the project 
in December, because it was imperative from the City of Prescott, that 
marching orders were going to be given soon because they wanted to get 
it done as soon as possible due to safety considerations that the City 
would have to meet due to federal mandates.  
 
He said that following his client’s compliance with the requests from the 
City to get the signed contracts to the City Clerk, the project stalled. His 
client was left waiting, not days, not weeks, but months. If they looked at 
the communications between the City of Prescott and the FAA, the City of 
Prescott and ADOT, and the City of Prescott and the engineer it hired as a 
qualified professional to oversee the project, all of those people had 
already said A. Miner Contracting, Inc., was qualified as the lowest bidder 
and his proposal was responsive to the solicitation put out by the City.   

 
He said that his client could complete that project for $1.1 million less than 
the next lowest bidder. He noted that there was absolutely no reason at 
that juncture, given the additional assurances from FAA and ADOT that 
the contract should not be awarded to A. Miner, Inc. 

 



Prescott City Council  
Regular Voting Meeting – March 27, 2012                                                   Page 16 
 

He said the City had done what his friend did not do. They had done their 
due diligence and had received the blessing of his client from the FAA, 
ADOT and Dibble Engineering. He noted that his client had the ability and 
resources necessary to complete the job. He had the bond and timely 
complied with all requirements. He noted that he also obtained a list of 
qualified DBE contractors.  
 
Mayor Kuykendall asked if the 50/50 did not have any value would it not 
be subverting the contract if they said they would pay the concrete 
company directly.  

 
Mr. Adams said he did not think so. He said that it was virtually 
impossible, unless they had fixed price contracts with every subcontractor 
they were going to use, and they also set forth in the contract, precisely 
what the materials would cost the subcontractor, to know what the final 
cost would be. He said that when his client stated that he would meet the 
50 percent requirement, he would apportion the work and purchase those 
materials in a way to allow him to meet the requirements.  He said there 
would not be any fuzzy math. He noted his client had agreed to complete 
the project in good faith and meet all of the contract requirements as the 
lowest, qualified, responsive bidder. He said the contract should be 
awarded to A. Miner, Inc. 
 
Mike Fann, Prescott, said they should make the decision for the right 
reasons. He said that he was good with whatever they decided and he 
would support an award to A. Minor, if it was the Council’s decision. He 
said that on a public works contract, they all wanted to compete on a level 
playing field. He said when bids were turned in at 2:00 p.m. on a certain 
date, the competition was over. Leading up to that minute, they all had to 
follow the same rules. He noted that when it came to how much they were 
going to subcontract and he read DBE specs; if they did not meet the 
goal, they did not demonstrate a good faith effort. He said that if the 
second guy met the goal, the first bid is out the door.  

 
Mayor Kuykendall asked if it were not a federal project with state 
participation would they be talking about it that day. Mr. McConnell said 
that they might be discussing one of the two items. He said the City 
contract would not have the have the DBE requirement. It would be a 
standard requirement that the prime accomplish 50% or more of the value 
of wok. He noted that they had bidding irregularities all the time. 

 
Mayor Kuykendall asked if they would have allowed the moving around of 
dollars so the prime could pay for materials to bring the numbers in focus. 
Mr. McConnell said, the how the clause of the contract which defined the 
performance of work was calculated, governed the project. He said that if 
it said in the specs that, for the purposes of satisfying the requirement 



Prescott City Council  
Regular Voting Meeting – March 27, 2012                                                   Page 17 
 

were, labor, materials and equipment, then that was it. If it said labor and 
materials, that would be the formula. Typically the prime had to put in 
place work which was valued, considering all three of those things. 

 
He said that before a notice to proceed was given there would be certain 
submittals which were required of the prime contractor which would 
solidify his subcontractor list to the extent that he would have to request a 
subcontractor change be approved. He said if the contractor were not 
complying with that definition set forth in the contract, of what the value of 
work accomplished by the contractor meant, then he would not get notice 
to proceed until he did comply.  Mayor Kuykendall asked if there could be 
changes between the bid date and notice to proceed. 

 
Mr. Kidd said there could be variations regarding materials, personnel and 
equipment costs, as long as the contract itself was complied with. The 
problem with that contract was that there was a variation in the original bid 
specification that required them to call out subcontractors, but did 
incorporate all of the provisions of the contract. He said the 50 percent 
was not named in the original proposals.  

 
Mayor Kuykendall said he found it awkward for the non professional in the 
business to have to make that judgment. He said that it seemed that if he 
had to make a bid, then that would be the bid. Mr. Kidd said that staff had 
noted some of those issues regarding the original specifications and also 
the contract issues. He said that not only did staff know some of those 
variations and issues, but the federal government also noted that while it 
was a goal, it did not particularly matter, they noted the confusion. 

 
COUNCILMAN BLAIR MOVED TO AWARD BID CONTRACT FOR THE 
RUNWAY 21L-3R SAFETY AREA IMPROVEMENT PROJECT AT 
PRESCOTT MUNICIPAL AIRPORT TO A. MINOR, INC., SUBJECT TO 
THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS: A) THAT BY ACCEPTING THIS 
CONTRACT, IN ADDITION TO ALL OTHER REQUIREMENTS OF THE 
CONTRACT, THE CONTRACTOR SPECIFICALLY ACKNOWLEDGES 
AND CONFIRMS THAT AS PRIME CONTRACTOR, HE WILL 
1) PERFORM NOT LESS THAN 50 PERCENT OF THE VALUE OF THE 
CONSTRUCTION WORK WITH HIS OWN FORCES, 2) MEET THE 
DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE REQUIREMENTS OF THE 
CONTRACT, 3) PRIOR TO BECOMING EFFECTIVE, THE CONTRACT 
IS SUBJECT TO APPROVALS BY THE FEDERAL AVIATION 
ADMINISTRATION, ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, 
AERONAUTICS DIVISION AND, 4) PRIOR TO PERFORMANCE OF 
ANY CONTRACT WORK ISSUANCE THE NOTICE TO PROCEED 
SHALL BE SUBJECT TO APPROVAL BY THE FEDERAL AVIATION 
ADMINISTRATION AND ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF 
TRANSPORTATION, AERONAUTICS DIVISION; SECONDED BY 



Prescott City Council  
Regular Voting Meeting – March 27, 2012                                                   Page 18 
 

COUNCILMAN LAMERSON; PASSED 6-0 WITH COUNCILMAN 
ARNOLD ABSTAINING. 
 

I.   Recognition of outgoing Councilmember John Hanna. 
 

Mayor Kuykendall presented a plaque to Councilman Hanna and thanked 
him for all he had done, on behalf of the Council. Councilman Hanna said 
that it had been a pleasure to work with and learn from the staff and 
Council. He noted that some of them had been friends for a long time. He 
said they all worked together for the benefit of the community.  He felt that 
they had done a lot of beneficial things for the City since he had been 
there.  

 
He said the best thing they did was to offer Mr. McConnell the job, which 
he accepted. He said that Mr. McConnell was a great asset to the town 
and he looked forward to living there under his guidance as City Manager. 
He said he was comfortable leaving the City in the Council’s hands. He 
thanked Councilman Lamerson for giving him a better appreciation for the 
oath of office and that it would leave a lasting impression in his mind.  

 
He thanked the citizens of Prescott for the opportunity to work on their 
behalf. He said that he was not going away. He said that he wanted to 
give the citizens of Prescott and Yavapai County the opportunity to work 
for them.   

 
III. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 There being no further business to be discussed, the Regular Voting Meeting of 

March 27, 2012, adjourned at 5:05 p.m. 
 
 
 
 

________________________________ 
       MARLIN D. KUYKENDALL, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
ELIZABETH A. BURKE, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 



Prescott City Council  
Regular Voting Meeting – March 27, 2012                                                   Page 19 
 

CERTIFICATION 
 
I hereby certify that the foregoing minutes are a true and correct copy of the minutes of 
the Regular Voting Meeting of the City Council of the City of Prescott, Arizona held on 
the 27th day of March, 2012. I further certify the meeting was duly called and held and 
that a quorum was present. 
 
Dated this ____ day of ___________________, 2012. 
 
 AFFIX 
 
       CITY SEAL     ________________________________  

      ELIZABETH A. BURKE, City Clerk 
 


	PRESCOTT CITY COUNCIL
	CONSENT ITEM A LISTED BELOW MAY BE ENACTED BY ONE MOTION. ANY ITEM MAY BE REMOVED AND DISCUSSED IF A COUNCILMEMBER SO REQUESTS.

